Study on low-dimensional nanomaterials for next-generation electronic devices

次世代電子デバイスに向けた低次元ナノ材料に関する研究

2 0 2 0

Yota Mabuchi

Contents

Chapter 1 – Introduction	2
1.1 Research backgrounds of low dimensional nanomaterial	2
1.2 Introduction of 1D CuO nanowire	3
1.2.1 Introduction of 1D materials and basic properties of copper oxide	3
1.2.2 Oxidation of copper	5
1.2.3 CuO nanowires synthesis methods	8
1.3 Introduction to 2D graphene	
1.3.1 Introduction to grapheme and synthesis methods	
1.3.2 Microwave plasma chemical vapor deposition (Microwace Plasma CVD)	
1.3.3 Applications of graphene	13
1.4 Purpose and structure of the thesis	14
Reference	17
Chapter 2 - Direct evidence to suggest activity of copper ions surface diffusion on nanowire in growth process .	
2.1. Introduction	
2.2. Experimental procedure	
2.3. Results and discussions	
2.4. Conclusions	40
References	41
Chapter 3 - Macroscale synthesis of CuO nanowires on FTO plane substrate	43
3.1. Introduction	43
3.2. Experimental procedure	47
3.3. Results and discussions	
3.4. Cautions	53
3.5. Conclusions	54
References	55
Chapter 4 - Direct Synthesis of Large-Area Graphene on Insulating Substrates at Low Temperature using Mic	rowave
Plasma CVD	57
4.1 Introduction	57
4.2 Experiment	59
4.3 Results and discussion	61
4.4 Conclusion	70
References	72
Chapter 5 - Conclusion	76
5.1 Conclusion of this work	76
5.2 Suggestions for future study	78
Acknowledgments	80
List of publication	

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Research backgrounds of low dimensional nanomaterial

One-dimensional (1D) or two-dimensional (2D) materials are expected as future electronic devices. Various 1D semiconductor materials such as Si, Ge, GaN, ZnO, Fe, and Ag are synthesized and studied for unique properties and potential applications. The structure and morphology of copper oxide nanowires and cupric oxide thin films are being studied. Electronic devices containing various rare metals produced so far are very expensive for commercial use. With regard to current rare materials, we will focus on copper oxide nanowires, a 1D case currently being studied, very stable, inexpensive, non-toxic material that can be obtained from readily available precursors. It is also one of the potential choices for an inexpensive device.

CuO nanowires are synthesized by heating Cu foil at ambient conditions. Copper foil samples are oxidized in air at 400-700 °C. The nanowire diameter can be controlled by changing the annealing temperature. Increasing the oxidation temperature can reduce the density, but the nanowires are straightened because the diameter and strength of the nanowires increase. Annealing temperature affects the aspect ratio, ie, the diameter and high density of the nanowires, while annealing time affects the length of the nanowires.

In addition, the isolation of van der Waals-coupled 2D crystals, which is expected as a future electronic device, has led to significant advances in materials research for applications in

electronics, photonics, and energy devices. Recently starting with graphene, several 2D crystals such as transition metal dichalcogenide (TMD) and transition metal oxide (TMO) have been studied, graphene is considered a substitute for silicon because of its high carrier mobility. Emitters, sensors, transparent electrodes, lithium-ion battery storage, etc. have already been reported

There are various publications on the synthesis of graphene due to its excellent properties. Graphene was the dream material of silicon after the death of electronic applications, however it is important how long it takes to get to the market. In order to avoid the CVD transfer process, it is necessary to directly grow graphene on an insulating substrate, and low temperature growth is highly desirable for substrates with low heat resistance. For this purpose, CVD is a better method, however there are few report of low-temperature growth, attempts to grow below 300 °C using a solid-liquid-solid reaction has been done.

1.2 Introduction of 1D CuO nanowire

1.2.1 Introduction of 1D materials and basic properties of copper oxide

One-dimensional (1D) nanostructures, such as nanowires, nanobelts, nanorods, and nanotubes, have become one of the focus of intensive research due to their unique physical properties and potential applications [1]. Nanowires of semiconductor materials, including Si, Ge, GaN, ZnO, Fe, Ag, and so on have been synthesized for future applications. Various growth methods are adopted, such as vapor-liquid-solid growth (VLS) [2], epitaxial growth [3], vapor-solid (VS) growth [4], wet chemical growth [5], or electrospinning [6]. In the case of VS growth, it has been known since the middle of the 20th century that the oxidation of metal elements such as Cu, Zn, and Fe forms a high density oxide wire on the surface [7]. CuO nanowires, (nanorods, nanowhiskers, nanosheets) can be synthesized by CuC_2O_4 precursor thermal decomposition [8], hydrothermal decomposition [9], autocatalytic growth [10]).

Furthermore, there is increasing interest in developing CuO 1D nanostructures for device such as critical temperature superconductors [11], sensors [12, 13], memories [14], catalytic nanodevices [15-17] or emitters [18].

Cupric oxide (CuO) and cuprous oxide (Cu₂O) are stable and Cu₂O is also insoluble in organic solvents. Cu₂O is contained underground as some red rock mineral copper ore. When exposed to oxygen, copper spontaneously oxidizes to Cu₂O, which takes a long time. Artificial formation occurs at high temperature or high oxygen pressure, and when heated further, Cu₂O becomes CuO. It is the black solid with the ionic lattice that melts over 1200 °C and is generated by the loss of oxygen. When copper is heated in air, it forms with Cu2O. Therefore, it can be prepared more appropriately by heating copper nitrate (II), copper hydroxide (II), etc. $(2Cu(NO_3)_2 \rightarrow 2CuO + 4NO_2 + O_2, Cu(OH)_2 \rightarrow CuO + H_2O \text{ or } CuCO_3 \rightarrow CuO + CO_2)$. Since CuO is a basic oxide, it dissolves in hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid, and nitric acid, etc. to produce copper (II) salt. (CuO + 2HNO₃ \rightarrow Cu(NO₃)₂ + H₂O, CuO + 2HCl \rightarrow CuCl₂ + H₂O or CuO + H₂SO₄ \rightarrow CuSO₄ + H₂O). Cu₂O is known to be a p-type semiconductor [19], and deviations from stoichiometry are due to the analysis of quenched samples [20], thermogravimetric analysis [21-23] and high temperature solid-state coulometric titration [24]. These were related to temperature and oxygen partial pressure. Several models have been suggested for the defect of Cu₂O. These contain neutral atoms, first-ionized copper vacancies, first-ionized oxygen interstitials, and double-ionized oxygen interstitials [20-23, 25, 26].

The temperature and oxygen partial pressure dependence during cation-tracer diffusion of Cu_2O were measured [31]. The results suggest that both neutral and monovalent copper vacancies mainly contribute to cation self-diffusion. The electrical conductivity of Cu_2O is dependent on temperature and oxygen partial pressure [25, 27-33]. The conductivity of oxygen partial pressure up to 10^{-6} atm was measured in the temperature range of 700-1100 °C in the Cu_2O phase [32]. It was suggested that the valence defect pair may become important with increasing oxygen partial pressure to explain the observed oxygen partial pressure dependence.

1.2.2 Oxidation of copper

The multiphase structure of Cu_2O and CuO forms on Cu oxidized in oxygen or air at high temperatures due to the thermodynamic stability of the oxide [21, 35, 36]. The parabolic rate constant for the oxidation depends on 1/4 of the oxygen partial pressure when only Cu_2O is formed. Bulk transport of copper in the reaction mainly involves neutral copper vacancies [37-40]. This means that the effective charge of most of the copper vacancies in the outer layer is zero.

Onay and Rapp performed oxidation of copper at 10^{-4} atm, $300 \,^{\circ}C$ [30]. Their results were that a multi-layer scale is formed by dissociation of the Cu₂O scale. Thickness loses contact with the copper substrate, and formed to micro channels and rich CuO in Cu₂O scales.

Kaufman and Hawkins performed photoluminescence measurements on thin films of Cu₂O on copper [41]. They suggest that the rate of copper oxidation is limited by the diffusion of copper vacancies.

The formation of one-dimensional metal oxide nanowires has been intensively studied due to their interest in characteristic structures and technical applications [42]. Considerable attention has been given to the formation of metals by thermal oxidation, primarily in an oxygen atmosphere [43–51], leading to various theories about the mechanism of formation of native oxide nanowires. Some are based on evaporation and condensation process, which are the vapor-solid model [55, 56], or a diffusion short circuit of the nanowire [57–61]. Other studies suggest that the nanowire growth occurs as the accumulation and mitigation of compressive stress at the oxidation [62-64]. Alternatively, it is also suggested that CuO could be presence in three magnetic phases with anisotropy [53].

In the past, various nanowires materials have been studied. As an example, the transport properties of a unite SnO_2 nanowire show a strong correlation of temperature-dependent

6

conductivity compared to a bulk or thin film of SnO₂ [54]. For SnO₂ nanofibers used as anode material for Li-ion batteries, longer cycle life and higher rate performance have been reported comparing to bulk [55]. Although the phenomenon of oxide nanowire formation is not linked to typical metals, copper oxidation is still the most representative [60, 62–68]. It has been proposed that the driving force for the formation of CuO nanowires is related to the compressive stress resulting from large differences in the molar volumes of metals and oxides [60, 69, 70]. Also since both CuO and Cu₂O are anion-deficient p-type oxides, oxides have been shown to grow by diffusion of cations during Cu oxidation [71]. Several experiments suggested that CuO nanowires grew from the tip during oxidation of the Cu substrate and were not pushed out of the base layer [60]. On the other hand, it was suggested that oxide nanowires grow primarily by surface diffusion from the base to the tip of the nanowire along the tunnel to the center of the screw dislocation [57–63]. However, such proposals contradict many experimental observations that reveal that oxide nanowires have a bicrystalline or single-crystal structure [51, 63, 66, 68]. Therefore, as a model system to understand the nanowire growth mechanisms, it is important to identify the mass transport mechanisms that govern the growth of one-dimensional nanowires. This p-type semiconductor material has many interesting properties that lead to countless technical applications including energy conversion, solar energy conversion, photocatalysts, fuel cells, emitter, lithium ion batteries cathode material, gas sensing, and catalysis for hydrocarbons conversion.

1.2.3 CuO nanowires synthesis methods

In the past few years, 1D CuO nanowires have been synthesized by various methods, including sonochemical methods [72]. To promote CuO crystallization with polyvinyl alcohol, it is performed as follows. Add the initial polymer CuO nanoparticles to the hexamethylenetetramine (HMT) high temperature solution and HMT turns into ammonia and formaldehyde. At this time, copper oxide is set in polyvinyl alcohol.

On the other hand, Xu obtained CuO in the form of nanorods by thermal decomposition of CuC_2O_4 [73]. $C_2O_4^{2+} + Cu_2^{2+} \rightarrow CuC_2O_4$, $CuC_2O_4 \rightarrow CuO + CO_2$. After mixing and pulverizing CuC2O4 and NaCl powder, it is annealed on the porcelain in the alumina tube. This is the chemical method to obtain powdered CuO nanorods.

Wang produced a CuO nanowire by the method of the solid-state reaction of a surfactant [74]. $CuCl \cdot 2H_2O(s)+2NaOH(s) \rightarrow CuO(s)+2NaCl+3H_2O$. After mixing and grinding CuCl₂ and solid NaOH, the surfactant is added. Next dry the product in the oven, at this time, CuO nanowires are set in a nonionic surfactant.

This method also can be adopted to obtain other nanowires such as CuS, ZnS, NiS, FeS, and so on. However, manufacturing methods based on precursor templates require complex procedures and knowledge to synthesize nanorods with selectable diameters. In addition, the length of the nanorods is less than 1 micron, which is unlikely to be a way to control the aspect ratio. From the perspective of nanostructure manufacturing, it must be suitable for mass production and controlling the aspect ratio of nanowires. Compared to complicated chemical methods, thermal annealing is a useful and rapid way to synthesize nanowires of CuO.

1.3 Introduction to 2D graphene

1.3.1 Introduction to graphene and synthesis methods

As shown in Fig. 1.1, graphene is a thin layer of carbon sp^2 hybrid orbitals arranged in a honeycomb structure. On the other hand, natural graphite is an arrangement in which its layers are joined together by van der Waals forces [75]. As for the study of graphene and 2D materials, surprising physical and electrical properties of single-layer graphene have been reported since single-layer graphene on SiO2 [76-78]. Mobility is up to 200k cm² / Vs, thermal conductivity is up to 5000 W / mK, high Young's modulus is 2.0 TPa. [79, 80].



Fig. 1.1. Atomic configuration of graphite and graphene

Fig. 1.2 shows a synthesis method hierarchical diagram. While graphene can be easily extracted from graphite using scratch tape [81], industrial synthesis has been achieved in several ways. Top-down method, a physical or scientific exfoliation of graphite [83, 84]. And the reduction of graphene oxide is for mass production, however the obtained graphene has reduced electrical properties compared to the original [82]. Bottom-up method, epitaxial growth on silicon carbide (SiC) surface. Although it is high cost, it is the most admired method for producing large area graphene for electronic applications [85].



Fig. 1.2. Graphene synthesis methods

Thermal CVD is the cheapest way to easily product graphene that is the desired layers, large areas, and good quality on a variety of substrates. There are various types of CVD, such as, low, high, atmospheric pressure CVD and plasma. There are other alternatives, such as arcing, solid-liquid solid-state reactions, and thawing of carbon nanotubes (CNTs) [86-89].

The formation mechanism of graphene by the CVD method is considered to be the most prominent at present.

First, carbon gas, which is a raw material for graphene, flows into the sample chamber, and the carbon gas is decomposed by heat or plasma. The decomposed carbon dissolves in the metal substrate, and then becomes supersaturated in the process of cooling the substrate, and graphene is synthesized on the substrate in the process of precipitating the carbon dissolved in the catalyst on the surface. Therefore, the number of graphene layers generated varies depending on the cooling rate of the substrate. This generation model is thought to occur in metallic materials with high carbon solubility such as nickel.

The next most prominent generation mechanism is the surface diffusion model. This is because carbon adsorbed on the metal surface is combined with other carbon in the process of running on the substrate, and graphene is generated. This is mainly caused by metal materials with low carbon solubility such as copper.

1.3.2 Microwave plasma chemical vapor deposition (Microwace Plasma CVD)

Microwave Plasma Chemical Vapor Deposition (Microwace Plasma CVD Method, MPCVD) method is of activating a raw material gas using a microwave to promote a chemical reaction. When a molecule is bombarded by high energy electrons, the electrons in the molecule transition to a higher energy level. In this inelastic collision, the molecules are in the same state as if they were thermally heated at a high temperature, and promote the chemical reaction. Therefore, even if the reaction is thermodynamically impossible at a low temperature, the reaction is possible and the speed is increased in the plasma.

In practice, a catalyst is deposited on a catalytic metal plate or substrate to grow graphene on the substrate. The MPCVD method uses the kinetic energy of electrons because the kinetic energy given to the ions in the plasma is smaller than that of the high-frequency plasma, so that the ions hardly vibrate and only the electrons vibrate. A device with a frequency band of 2.45 GHz is installed inside the waveguide as a microwave transmitter, and film formation is performed under vacuum. Parameters such as microwave, substrate temperature, source gas, vacuum system, and plasma distance are closely linked, so these are separately controlled for film formation.

1.3.3 Applications of graphene

Due to the extraordinary properties, graphene can be applied to a variety of potential applications. Graphene-based emitters, sensors, transparent conductive film, and lithium ion battery storage have already been produced [90-96]. Graphene was considered a substitute for silicon materials because of its high carrier mobility [97]. It can also help to significantly increase data capacity to meet future demand growth [98-101]. Another application is solar cells, and carbon solar cells can reduce costs, but need to improve the efficiency of solar cells. Carbon solar cells are made possible by doping nitrogen or boron to change n-type or p-type, respectively [102-104].

Graphene is considered a substitute for silicon material, but does not have the band gap required for electronic devices. According to the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) [105], silicon technology may be replaced after 2020. Numerous methods have been reported for introducing band gaps into graphene, including quantum confinement and chemical modification [106-111], however fail to open band gaps above 0.36 eV [113]. In addition, opening the bandgap causes carrier mobility degradation, which is undesirable for electronic applications [114]. On the other hand, the conversion by doping enabled the band gap opening without deteriorating the characteristics [115]. In theoretical studies, arsenic and tin doping may lead to band gaps of up to 0.6 eV, the largest in current work [116].

1.4 Purpose and structure of the thesis

The growth mechanism by which such one-dimensional and two-dimensional materials are formed is not fully understood, and there are many unclear points. In addition, there has been little research on the large area required in the future. and it is linked to area increase by using these growth mechanisms. These applications require large areas and large amounts of active device materials to enable production and utilization on a realistic scale. Therefore, focusing on copper oxide nanowire and graphene which is expected to be a transparent conductive film, we elucidated the growth mechanism, increased the area, and performed direct synthesis at low temperatures. This paper describes copper oxide nanowires grown by thermal oxidation of copper foil or transparent conductive film FTO, and graphene grown directly on an insulating substrate by plasma CVD. Chapter 1 introduces nanowires and graphene and describes general synthesis methods. It also describes copper oxide films, cupric oxide nanowires and their synthesis methods, graphene characteristics, plasma CVD synthesis methods, and supplementary prospective dopes.

Chapter 2 describes the surface diffusion growth process of copper ions in the copper oxide nanowire growth process. Experimentally explain that copper particles begin to collect on the wire when the air flow rate is reduced in a sealed space in copper oxide nanowire synthesis. Transmission, electron microscopy (TEM) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) were used to analyze morphology, composition, and structure. Structural analysis was performed using energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX).

Chapter 3 explains the mass production method of CuO nanowires on flat substrates from the viewpoint of tensile and compressive stress and growth of CuO nanowires. As the industrial process of copper, if the copper substrate is flat, the stress distribution will cause damage to the copper substrate, rather than producing nanowires. In the proposed study, however, this was made possible by changing the structure of the substrate at the bottom of the CuO nanowire. The nanowire substrate on the FTO is not a flat surface but a plurality of hemispherical protrusions

Chapter 4 describes the direct graphene growth on the insulating substrate using microwave plasma CVD Graphene obtained by using CO₂ and ozone treatment has high transmittance, low

sheet resistance and increased sheet carrier mobility at low temperatures. The growth of graphene achieved at low temperatures also expands the range of direct growth on insulating substrates or semiconductors at lower temperatures

Chapter 5 provides overall conclusions and recommendations for future work in this research area.

Reference

[1] Y. Xia, P. Yang, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. Yin, F. Kim, H. Yan, Adv. Mater. 15(2003) 353.

- [2] R.S. Wagner, W.C. Ellis, Appl. Phys. Lett. 4 (1964) 89.
- [3] C.Y. Gyu, W. Chunrui, I.P. Won, Semicond. Sci. Technol. 20 (2005) 22.
- [4] X. Jiang, T. Herricks, Y.N. Xia, Nano Lett. 2 (12) (2002) 1333.
- [5] A. Sambandam, X. Wen, S. Yang, Mater. Chem. Phys. 93 (2005) 35.
- [6] H. Wu, D. Lin, W. Pan, Appl. Phys. Lett. 89 (13) (2006) 133125.
- [7] K. Hauffe, Oxidation of Metals, Plenum Press, New York, NY, USA, 1965.
- [8] F. Lanza, R. Feduzi, J. Fuger, J. Mater. Res. 5 (1990) 1739.
- [9] D. Chen, G. Shen, K. Tang, Y. Qian, J. Cryst. Growth 254 (2003) 225.
- [10] M. Cao, C.-T. Hsieh, J.-M. Chen, H.-H. Lin, H.-C. Shih, Appl. Phys. Lett. 82 (2003)3316.
- [11] K.-H. Muller, High-Tc Superconductors and Related Materials, vol. 86, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2001.
- [12] A. Cruccolini, R. Narducci, R. Palombari, Sens. Actuators B 98 (2004) 227.
- [13] V.R. Katti, A.K. Debnath, K.P. Muthe, M. Kaur, A.K. Dua, S.C. Gadkari, S.K. Gupta,
- V.C. Sahni, Sens. Actuators B 96 (2003) 245.
- [14] H. Fan, L. Yang, W. Hua, X. Wu, Z. Wu, S. Xie, B. Zou, Nanotechnology 15 (2004) 37.

- [15] A. Santos, P. Yustos, A. Quintanilla, G. Ruiz, F. Garcia-Ochoa, Appl. Catal. B 61(2005) 323.
- [16] A.A. Ponce, K.J. Klabunde, J. Mol. Catal. A 225 (2005) 1.
- [17] M. J. Factoran, "Silicon's Usefulness in Photovoltaics," IEEE Potentials (1995) 8.
- [18] J. Nozik, J. Miller "Introduction to Solar Photon Conversion" Chem. Rev. 110 (2010)6443.
- [19] P. Kofstad, Non-Stoiehiometry, Diffusion, and Electrical Conductivity in Binary MetalOxides Wiley Interseience, New York, 1972.
- [20] C. Wagner and H. Hammen, Z. Physik. Chem. B 40 (1938) 197.
- [21] M. O'Keefe, W. J. Moore, J. Chem. Phys. 36, 3009 (1962); H. L. McKinzie, M. O'Keefe,Phys. Lett. A 24 (1967) 137.
- [22] S. Mrowee, A. Stoklosa, K. Godlewski, Cryt. Lat. Def. 5 (1974) 239.
- [23] M. Yoshimura, A. Revcolevschi, J. Castaing, J. Mater. Sci. 11 (1976) 384.
- [24] Y. D. Tretyakov, V. F. Komarov, N. A. Prosvirhina, I. B. Kusenok, J. Solid St. Chem.5 (1972) 157.
- [25] J. Maluenda, R. Farhi, G. Petot-Ervas, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 42 (1981) 911.
- [26] F. Perinet, S. Barbezat, C. Nonty, J. Phys. Colloq. C 6 (1980) 315.
- [27] J. Gunderman, K. Hauffe, C. Wagner, Z. Physik. Chem. B 37 (1937) 148.
- [28] M. O'Keefe, W. J. Moore, J. Chem. Phys. 35 (1961) 1324.

- [29] R. S. Toth, R. Kilkson, D. Trivich, Phys. Rev. 122 (1961) 482.
- [30] B. Onay, J. Electrochem. Soc. 136 (1989) 1578.
- [31] K. Stecker, Ann. Phys. 7 (1959) 55.
- [32] N. L. Peterson C. L. Wiley, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 45 (1984) 281.
- [33] J. Maluenda, R. Farhi, G. Petot-Ervas, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 42 (1981) 697.
- [34] M. O'Keefe, Y. Ebisuzaki, W. J. Moore, J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 18 (1963) 131.
- [35] Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 61st Ed. CRC press, (1981).
- [36] W. J. Tomlinson J. Yates, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 38 (1977) 1205.
- [37] E. lguchi, K. Yajima, Y. Saito, Trans. Jpn. Inst. Met. 14 (1973) 423.
- [38] C. Wagner and K. Grunewald, Z. Phys. Chem. B 40 (1938) 197.
- [39] J. P. Baur, D. W. Bridges, W. M. Fassell, Jr., J. Electrochem. Soc. 103 (1956) 273.
- [40] W. Feitknecht, Z. Elektrochem. 35 (1929) 142.
- [41] S. Mrowec and A. Stoklosa, Oxid. Met. 3 (1971) 142.
- [42] J. B. Liang, T. Soga, N. Kishi, T. Jimbo, Nitech Ph.D. Dissertation (2012)
- [43] R. G. Kaufrnan R. T. Hawkins, J. Electrochem. Soc. 131(2), 385; 133(12), 2652 (1986);
- 135(8), 2096 (1988); J. Luminesc. 31 & 32 (1984) 509.
- [44] E. Comini, C. Baratto, G. Faglia, M. Ferroni, A. Vomiero, S. Sberveglieri, Prog Mater Sci 54 (2009)1.

- [45] Y. H. Sun, J. Y. Gao, R. Zhu, J. Xu, L. Chen, J. M. Zhang, J Chem Phys 132 (2010)124705.
- [46] A. G. Nasibulin, S. Rackauskas, H. Jiang, Y. Tian, P. R. Mudimela, S. D. Shandakov, Nano Res 2 (2009) 373.
- [47] R. M. Wang, Y. F. Chen, Y. Y. Fu, H. Zhang, C. Kisielowski, J Phys Chem B 109 (2005)12245.
- [48] X. G. Wen, S. H. Wang, Y. Ding, Z. L. Wang, S. H. Yang, J Phys Chem B 109 (2005) 215.
- [49] L. Liao, Z. Zhang, B. Yan, Z. Zheng, Q. L. Bao, T. Wu, Nanotechnology 20 (2009) 085203.
- [50] Y. Y. Fu, J. Chen, J. Zhang, Chem Phys Lett 350 (2001) 491.
- [51] X. C. Jiang, T. Herricks, Y. N. Xia, Nano Lett 2 (2002)1333.
- [52] M. L. Zhong, D. C. Zeng, Z. W. Liu, H. Y. Yu, X. C. Zhong, W. Q. Qiu, Acta Mater 58 (2010) 5926.
- [53] S. M. Arnold, S. E. Koonce, J Appl Phys 27 (1956) 964.
- [54] J. A. Sartell, R. J. Stokes, S. H. Bendel, T. L. Johnson, C. H. Li, Trans Metall Soc AIME215 (1959) 420.
- [55] C. T. Hsieh, J. M. Chen, H. H. Lin, H. C. Shih, Appl Phys Lett 82 (2003) 3316.
- [56] L. S. Huang, S. G. Yang, T. Li, B. X. Gu, Y. W. Du, Y. N. Lu, J Cryst Growth 260 (2004)130.

- [57] R. A. Rapp, Metall Trans B 15B (1983) 195.
- [58] R. A. Rapp, Metall Mater Trans A 15A (1984) 765.
- [59] Kofstad P. High temperature corrosion. New York, Elsevier Applied Science, 1988.
- [60] G. M. Raynaud, R. A. Rapp, Oxid Metals 21 (1984) 89.
- [61] D. A. Voss, E. P. Bulter, T. E. Michell, Metall Trans A 13A (1982) 929.
- [62] A. M. Goncalves, L. C. Campos, A. S. Ferlauto, R. G. Lacerda, J Appl Phys 106 (2009)34303.
- [63] A. Kumar, A. K. Srivastava, P. Tiwari, R. V. Nandedkar, J Phys: Condens Matter 16(2004) 8531.
- [64] J. T. Chen, F. Zhang, J. Wang, G. A. Zhang, B. B. Miao, X. Y. Fan, J Alloys Compd 454(2008) 268.
- [65] K. Zhang, C. Rossl, C. Tenalleau, P. Alphonse, J. Y. Chane-Ching, Nanotechnology 19(2007) 275607.
- [66] M. Kaur, K. P. Muthe, S. K. Despande, S. Choudhury, J. B. Singh, N. Verma, J Cryst Growth 289 (2006) 570.
- [67] C. H. Xu, C. H. Woo, S. Q. Shi, Chem Phys Lett 399 (2004) 62.
- [68] N. Chopra, B. Hu, B. Hinds, J Mater Res 22 (2007) 2691.
- [69] W. K. Appleby, R. F. Tylecote, Corros Sci 10 (1970) 325.
- [70] F. Morin, J Mater Sci Lett 2 (1983) 383.

- [71] H. E. Evans, Int J Mater Res 40 (1995) 1.
- [72] K. M. Shrestha, C. M. Sorensen, K. J. Klabunde, J. Phys. Chem. C 114 (2010) 14368.
- [73] C. Xu, Y. Liu, G. Xu, G. Wang, Mater. Res. Bull. 37 (2002) 2365
- [74] W. Wangab, Y. Zhana, X. Wangc, Y. Liua, C. Zhenga, G. Wangab, Mater. Res. Bull. 37(2002) 1093
- [76] F. Rozploch, J. Patyk, J. Stankowski, Acta Phys. Pol. A. 112 (2007) 557.
- [77] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V.
- Grigorieva, A. A. Firsov, Science 306 (2004) 666-669.
- [78] M. Eizenberg, J. M. Blakely, Surf. Sci. 82 (1979) 228.
- [77] M. Eizenberg, J. M. Blakely, J. Chem. Phys. 71 (1979) 3467.
- [79] J. U. Lee, D. Yoon, H. Cheong, Nano Lett. 12 (2012) 4444.
- [80] X. Du, I. Skachko, E. Y. Andrei, A. Barker, Nat. Nanotechnol. 3 (2008) 491.
- [81] A. Geim, K. Novoselov, R. Swedish Acad. Sci. 181 (2011) 1283.
- [82] P. Sutter, Nat. Mater. 8 (2009) 171.
- [83] Y. Hernandez, V. Nicolosi, M. Lotya, F. Blighe, Z. Sun, S. De, I. T. McGovern, B. Holland,
- M. Byrne, Y. Gunko, J. Boland, P. Niraj, G. Duesberg, S. Krishnamurti, R. Goodhue, J.
- Hutchison, V. Scardaci, a. C. Ferrari, J. N. Coleman, Nat. Nanotechnol. 3 (2008) 563.
- [84] Y. Zhu, S. Murali, W. Cai, X. Li, J. W. Suk, J. R. Potts, R. S. Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 3906.

- [85] K. V. Emtsev, F. Speck, T. Seyller, L. Ley, J.D. Riley, Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter Mater. Phys. 77 (2008) 1.
- [86] M. T. and Y. I. V. C. Abraham G. C. Marquez, F. J. R. Macias, J. C. Delgado, C. G. E.
- Gonzalez, F. T. Lopez, D. R. Gonzalez, D. A. Cullen, D. J. Smith, Nano Lett. 9 (2009) 1527.
- [87] R. Hirano, K. Matsubara, G. Kalita, Y. Hayashi, M. Tanemura, Nanoscale. (2012) 7791.
- [88] K. S. Novoselov, V. I. Fal'ko, L. Colombo, P. R. Gellert, M. G. Schwab, K. Kim, Nature.490 (2012) 192.
- [89] K. S. Subrahmanyam, L. S. Panchakarla, A. Govindaraj, C. N. R. Rao, J. Phys. Chem. C.113 (2009) 4257.
- [90] Z. S. Wu, S. Pei, W. Ren, D. Tang, L. Gao, B. Liu, F. Li, C. Liu, H.-M. Cheng, N. Chiu, T. Huang, H. Lai, Adv. Mater. 21 (2013) 1756.
- [91] G. Eda, H. Emrah Unalan, N. Rupesinghe, G. A. J. Amaratunga, M. Chhowalla, Appl.Phys. Lett. 93 (2008) 233502.
- [92] S. Alwarappan, A. Erdem, C. Liu, C. Z. Li, J. Phys. Chem. C. 113 (2009) 8853.
- [93] S. Bae, H. Kim, Y. Lee, X. Xu, J. S. Park, Y. Zheng, J. Balakrishnan, T. Lei, H. R. Kim, Y.
- II Song, Y. J. Kim, K. S. Kim, B. Özyilmaz, J. H. Ahn, B. H. Hong, S. Iijima, Nat. Nanotechnol. 5 (2010) 574.
- [94] F. Schedin, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, E. W. Hill, P. Blake, M. I. Katsnelson, K. S. Novoselov, Nat. Mater. 6 (2007) 652.

- [95] R. Raccichini, A. Varzi, S. Passerini, B. Scrosati, Nat. Mater. 14 (2015) 271.
- [96] J. D. Fowler, M. J. Allen, V. C. Tung, Y. Yang, R. B. Kaner, B. H. Weiller, ACS Nano. 3 (2009) 301.
- [97] W. Choi, I. Lahiri, R. Seelaboyina, Y. S. Kan, A Review, Crit. Rev. Solid State Mater. Sci.35 (2010) 52.
- [98] X. D. Zhuang, Y. Chen, G. Liu, P. P. Li, C. X. Zhu, E. T. Kang, K. G. Neoh, B. Zhang, J. H. Zhu, Y. X. Li, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010) 1731.
- [99] W. Zhang, Q. Zhang, M. Q. Zhao, L. T. Kuhn, Nanotechnology. 24 (2013) 275301.
- [100] G. Liang, S. Bala Kumar, M. B. A. Jalil, S. G. Tan, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99 (2011) 97.
- [101] X. Li, Q. Zhang, X. Chen, M. Gu, Sci. Rep. 3 (2013) 2819.
- [102] H. Wang, K. Sun, F. Tao, D. J. Stacchiola, Y. H. Hu, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 52 (2013)9210.
- [103] X. Miao, S. Tongay, M. K. Petterson, K. Berke, A. G. Rinzler, B. R. Appleton, A. F.Hebard, Nano Lett. 12 (2012) 6.
- [104] J. Liu, Y. Xue, Y. Gao, D. Yu, M. Durstock, L. Dai, Adv. Mater. 24 (2012) 2228.
- [105] Itrs, International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors, Executive Summary, Itrs.(2011).
- [106] J. B. Oostinga, H. B. Heersche, X. Liu, A. F. Morpurgo, L. M. K. Vandersypen, Nat. Mater. 7 (2008) 151.

- [107] M. Y. Han, B. Özyilmaz, Y. Zhang, P. Kim, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 1.
- [108] C. Stampfer, E. Schurtenberger, F. Molitor, J. Güttinger, T. Ihn, K. Ensslin, Nano Lett. 8(2008) 2378.
- [109] L. A. Ponomarenko, F. Schedin, M. I. Katsnelson, R. Yang, E. W. Hill, K. S. Novoselov,
- A. K. Geim, Science 320 (2008) 356.
- [110] P. Rani, V. K. Jindal, RSC Adv. 3 (2013) 802.
- [111] R. Vishwakarma, M. Sharon, M. Tanemura, Nitech Ph.D. Dissertation (2012)
- [112] P. A. Denis, C. Pereyra Huelmo, A. S. Martins, J. Phys. Chem. C. 120 (2016) 7103.
- [113] K. Kim, J. Choi, T. Kim, S. Cho, H. Chung, Nature 479 (2011) 338.
- [114] F. Schwierz, Graphene transistors, Nat. Nanotechnol. 5 (2010) 487.
- [115] A. Lherbier, X. Blase, Y. M. Niquet, F. Triozon, S. Roche, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008)036808.
- [116] X. M. Guan, M. Zhang, H. Y. Zhang, Y. H. Luo, Jiegou Huaxue. 33 (2014) 513.

Chapter 2 - Direct evidence to suggest activity of copper ions surface diffusion on nanowire in growth process

2.1. Introduction

Copper oxide (CuO) has been extensively studied because of its close connection to high-Tc superconductors [1, 2].

This material is useful for active layer of solar cell and shows a number of interesting properties such as low cost, good mobility, abundance, and the semiconductor layer formation process is simple [3, 4]. Although it is one of the oldest semiconductor materials known to solid state physicists, not much technological improvement has been achieved.

Cupric oxide is a semiconductor having the band gap of about 1.21 eV so it can absorb the visible light to make electricity, the theoretical limit of the energy conversion efficiency of a cupric oxide solar cell is hidden about 20% [3-5].

Nanostructured materials have attracted much scientific attention due to their interesting size-dependent chemical and physical properties and potential technological applications. One-dimensional (1D) structures such as nanorods and nanowires have become important building blocks of nanodevices and integrated nanosystems [6, 7].

Nanowires are 1D nanocrystal with large aspect ratio (height / diameter) and diameter up to about 200 nm. Indeed, oxide whiskers growing on the surface of copper during oxidation were observed nearly half a century ago [8]. Whiskers are characterized to have a short length (< 5µm), a large diameter (> 100 nm) and very low density. Based on the reports above, nanowires can also be named as nanowhiskers.

Various growth techniques have been employed, including the vapor-liquid-solid growth [9], epitaxial growth [10], vapor-solid growth [11], wet chemical methods [12], and electrospinning [13].

In comparison to complex these chemical methods, thermal annealing of copper foil provides simple, convenient, and fast method for synthesizing CuO nanowires. Thermal oxidation is becoming an increasingly attractive method for the synthesis of nanostructures.

A variety of views in the copper oxide nanowires growth mechanism has been speculated [14-18]. However, on one of the leading paper of the mechanism of the wire occurrence, there is suggestion of the grain boundary diffusion and surface diffusion of copper ions [19, 20].

When the Cu substrate was heated in the air, two thermodynamically stable oxide layers, namely Cu₂O layer and the topmost CuO layer were formed. In the order of differences of these molar volumes, stresses were generated by the substrate inside, therefore these caused grain boundaries of Cu₂O and CuO layers, through those gaps Cu ions began to pass.

In the growth process of the wire, Cu ions diffused the grain boundaries from the Cu base and reached to the CuO top surface. Then copper ions cause the wire source, diffusing surface in the planar direction on top CuO. Ultimately copper ions started to form a wire tip, diffusing surface in a vertical direction on CuO wire while assembling to the tip. However most of the experimental observations about CuO nanowires growth mechanisms have not been carried out, as the author stated [20].

In this present report, under the general condition that copper oxide nanowires occur [11, 21-24], we describe peculiarities of the structure and the growth process of nanowires obtained by only lowering the air flow rate.

2.2. Experimental procedure

For synthesis of CuO nanowires, the copper sheets were used as a substrate. The industrial grade copper sheets (Nilaco Corp. 0.1 mm thickness and 99.999% purity) are cut into standard sizes of $1 \text{cm} \times 1 \text{cm}$. The substrates were cleaned with acetone and methanol and deionized water under an ultrasonic bath for 5 min, and dried by N₂ flow.

The cleaned Cu substrate was positioned in the middle of a quartz tube that is mounted a horizontal tube furnace. This tube furnace was completely enclosed, moreover one end of the quartz tube was attached to the pure air cylinder (Taiyo Nippon Sanso) and other to the gas bubble.

The tube furnace was heated to the set-point temperature and flow rate was adjusted at 0.5 L/min and less range (HORIBA, PE-D20) from the air cylinder.

The morphology of the CuO nanowires were characterized by scanning electron microscope (SEM, Hitachi S-3000H) operated at 15 kV. The wire part characterizations were per-formed

28

by field emission scanning electron microscopy (FE-SEM, JEOL JSM7001FF) equipped with EDS (THERMO SCIENTIFIC NSS). Transmission electron microscopy TEM (JEOL JEM-4000 EXII) observation and electron diffraction investigation were carried out.

2.3. Results and discussions

In atmospheric pressure it is explained CuO nanowires are mainly successfully synthesized in the vicinity of 500 $^{\circ}$ C and the length is mainly affected by synthesis time [11,21-24]. Therefore the parameter temperature was set 500 $^{\circ}$ C as a general synthesis temperature and the synthesis time was fixed to 60 minutes for growing CuO nanowires. Then, as regards an electric furnace preparing from an air flow late 0.5 L/min [24], where the air flow rate was made drop down to set gradually, when nanowires differing from the straight line appeared, we stopped lowering to set. Under in the vicinity of approximately 0.01 L/min, a certain changed peculiarity of the wire has appeared in the low probability of 10-20%.



Fig. 2.1. SEM images of CuO nanowires attached grains at an annealing temperature of 500 ℃ for 60 min in an air flow (A) 0.010 and (B) 0.005 L/min.



Fig. 2.2. Enlarged SEM images of other areas Fig. 2.1 (A) and (B) samples which are sparse parts of CuO nanowires attached grains to observe a unit nanowire. EDS points on circles.

In Fig. 2.1 SEM images (A) is an air flow rate 0.010 L/min, (B) is 0.005 L/min. The case air flow was suppressed, a result of the shape was obtained that the wire differed considerably. Unlike the normal liner nanowires, those of granular on the wire are visible. When lowered the air flow rate, (A) it began particles adhere around the wire. Moreover the air flow rate was depressed further, (B) particle assemblages on the wire expanded.

Fig. 2.2 (A) and (B) are magnified sparsity parts of Fig. 2.1 (A) and (B) for examining a unit nanowire, respectively.

In order to observe the particle adhered to the wire in Fig. 2.2 (A), nanowires (A) 0.010 L/min cut off to a piece applied ultrasonic vibration, it was investigated by TEM.



Fig. 2.3. TEM images of a CuO nanowire attached grains at 500 °C for 60 min in an air flow (A) 0.010 L/min. A[b] is the base side of a cut wire of the sample (A) 0.010 L/min. A[m] is its middle part. A[t] is its tip.

In Fig. 2.3, A[b] is the base side of a cut nanowire (A) 0.010 L/min, A[m] is its middle part, and A[t] is its tip. As far as observed in Fig. 2.3, particles were attached around the wire. Then, in Fig. 2.3 A[b] and A[m] for the most part it was clearly observed that particles were attached after the wire had completely occurred. On the other hand, in Fig. 2.3 A[t] as red dotted lines the wire tip sidewall has been synthesized with the attached particles.

Electron diffraction was carried out for adhered particles by TEM. In the red circle in Fig. 2.3, the particle was a single crystal which arranged neatly also a wire similarly [23].



Fig. 2.4. EDS of CuO nanowires attached grains of A[t], A[b], B[t] and B[b] in Fig. 2.2.
Fig. 2.4 is the compositions created nanowire particles which were investigated in fixed points in the red circle of Fig. 2.2 by EDS. A unit nanowire tip and base of red circle in Fig. 2.2 (A) refer to Fig. 2.4 A[t] and A[b], moreover tip and base in Fig. 2.2 (B) refer to Fig. 2.4 B[t] and B[b], respectively. Particularly in Fig. 2.2 B[b] it was observed no particles on the base of a wire where seen exposed.

Here in our laboratory with regard to a unit nanowire, substrate was composed of Cu, a film upon the substrate was Cu₂O, the wire base upon the Cu₂O film and a wire was CuO, as discussed in [23]. Furthermore, general CuO nanowire EDS spectrum is Cu having K line about 8.04 and 8.90 keV as well as L line about 0.93 keV, moreover O having K line 0.53 keV [25].

This time we observed a wire portion, on nanowires both (A) and (B) in the K line, Cu and O did not approach in the same ratio, the content of Cu tended to be higher. Moreover as the tip parts of both (A) and (B), the content of Cu tended to be stronger. In the same K line both Cu and O in particular as for the tip with a larger grain at (B), Cu became extremely high. In this way, when the assemblage of grains is larger the Cu content shows to be high, thus grains should be defined as a concentrated Cu atoms sets.



Fig. 2.5. Growth process model of CuO nanowires proposed by Mingji Chen. 2012. J. Appl. Phys. 111, 104305. The red circle was seen in this experiment to become copper grains.

Driving force for CuO nanowire growth is explained to be a stress generated in the formation of Cu₂O and CuO layer by applying heat energy [19, 20]. Molar volumes are the order of Cu <Cu₂O < CuO, further, the stress gradient is in the direction from the Cu / Cu₂O interface to the CuO surface outward. As Fig. 2.5, grain boundaries caused by this stress, through those gaps Cu ions are diffused to CuO upper surface. Next Cu ions that have reached the surface are able to diffuse the sidewall of the wire continuing to form the wire tip.

The important point is Cu ions continue to assemble and form toward the tip as Fig. 2.3 A [t] dotted red lines and the result Fig. 2.4 A[t], B[t], although the boundary of the sidewall Fig. 2.3 A[m], A[b] was often seen clearly. That indicates the reason why CuO nanowire synthesis time mainly affects in the wire length.

On the other hand, the wire sidewall also slightly can chance to be formed as Fig. 2.3 A[b], A[m], therefore the effect over the wire diameter slightly come out during extending process. We assume that since the temperature could not be realistically fixed at the minimum part of near the wire for occurring slight variations between the temperatures, this affects the wire diameter during growth. However, that is modicum in comparison with the impact of the tip.

Since the annealing temperature was 500 $^{\circ}$ C in Fig. 2.1, copper particles were not be able to reach the boiling point, therefore not be released to the gas sublimation from the solid in atmospheric pressure by only lower energy of 500 $^{\circ}$ C. It is clear that copper solid ions rose along the wire surface having moved to sew grain boundaries from copper base, rather than the particles evaporated from the base surface, adhered to the wire.

Moreover, the same can be explained even observing at the particles between red dotted lines in Fig. 2.3 A[t] synthesized oftenly with the wire sidewall, although other areas A[m], A[b] were not be able to accompany to react. This is in the nanowire growth process, these results there is a possibility to suggest the existence that copper ions diffuse on surface of the nanowires.

As the flow rate was close to minimum, copper grains began to appear on the wire. By causing a flow rate in the copper oxide nanowire synthesis, such as heat CVD, wires were completely synthesized like a liner wire [22, 24], never particles were created on it. We assume this is because that in either oxidation to open the furnace at atmospheric pressure, or synthesis by causing a flow to the enclosed furnace, the sufficient gas for reacting can be fed around the nanowire.

Conversely, in a completely sealed environment there is no oxygen flow by heating around the substrate at all ideally, naturally CuO nanowires in themselves cannot be growth to take time since oxygen is not enough around the wire. Only in a quasi-sealed environment such as enclosed furnace to cause a very small flow rate as much as possible not to synthesis, grains begin to set on the growing nanowire. It can conjecture to occur if near the wire is very close to the middle of the poor and the sufficient oxidizing.

Moreover, there can be a similar phenomenon in the nano-structure growth mechanism of other materials which generated from the tip of the nano-structure.

2.4. Conclusions

Under a general copper oxide nanowires occurring condition, in atmospheric pressure 500 degrees C and 60 min, in an enclosed space as dropping down an air flow rate approximately 0.01 L/min or less in the copper oxide nanowire synthesis, copper particles begin to set on the wire successfully. This was consistent with the discussion that copper ions diffuse on the wire surface in the copper oxide nanowire growth process.

References

- [1] J. G. Bednorz, K. A. Muller, Zeit. Phys. B Condens. Matter. 64 (1986) 189.
- [2] M. K. Wu, J. R. Ashburn, C. J. Torng, P. H. Hor, R. L. Meng, L. Gao, Z. J. Huang, Y. Q. Wang, C. W. Chu, Phys. Rev. Lett. 58 (1987) 908.
- [3] C. Noguet, M. Tapiero, C. Schwab, J. P. Zielinger, D. Trivich, R. J. Komp, E. Y. Wang, K. Weng, Proc. 1st E. C. Photovoltaic solar energy Conf. Luxemburg, (1977) pp. 1170-1181.
- [4] L. C. Olsen, F. W. Addis, W. Miller, Solar Cells, 7 (1982) 247.
- [5] J. Herion, B. Natsch, E. A. Nickish, C. Scharl, Proc. 2nd E. C. Photovoltaic Solar Energy Conf. Berlin, (1979) pp. 917-924.
- [6] X. Duan, Y. Huang, R. Agarwal, C. M. Lieber, Nature, 421 (2003) 241.
- [7] D. Trivich, E. Y. Wang, R. J. Komp, A. S. Kakar, Proc. 13th IEEE Photovoltaic Spec. Conf. Washington, D.C. (1978) pp. 174-183.
- [8] C. H. Xu, C. H. Woo, S. Q. Shi, Superlattices Microstruct. 36 (2004) 31.
- [9] R. S. Wagner, W. C. Ellis, Appl. Phys. Lett. 4 (1964) 89.
- [10] G. C. Yi, C. Wang, W. II. Park, Semicond. Sci. Technol. 20 (2005) S22.
- [11] X. Jiang, T. Herricks, Y. Xia, Nano Lett. 2 (2002) 1333.
- [12] S. Anandan, X. Wen, S. Yang, Mater Chem. Phys. 93 (2005) 35.
- [13] H. Wu, D. Lin, W. Pan, Appl. Phys. Lett. 89 (2006) No.133125.
- [14] G. M. Raynaud, R. A. Rapp, Oxid. Met. 21 (1984) 89.

- [15] A. M. B. Gonçalves, L. C. Campos, A. S. Ferlauto, R. G. J. Lacerda, Appl. Phys. 106 (2009) 034303.
- [16] W. K. Appleby, R. F. Tylecote, Corros. Sci. 10 (2005) 325.
- [17] F. J. Morin, Mater. Sci. Lett. 2 (1983) 383.
- [18] M. Saka, F. Yamaya, H. Tohmyoh, Scripta. Mater, 56 (2007) 1031.
- [19] L. Yuan, Y. Wang, R. Mema, G. Zhou, Acta Mater, 59 (2011) 2491.
- [20] M. Chen, Y. Yue, Y. J. Ju, Appl. Phys. 111 (2012) 104305.
- [21] L. S. Huang, S. G. Yang, et al. Journal of Crystal Growth, 260 (2004) 130.
- [22] A. Kumar, A. K. Srivastava, P. Tiwari, R. V. J. Nandedkar, Phys. Condens. Mat. 16 (2004) 8531.
- [23] J. B. Liang, T. Soga, N. Kishi, T. Jimbo, Appl. Surf. Sci. 257 (2010) 62.
- [24] J. B. Liang, T. Soga, N. Kishi, T. Jimbo, Journal of Nanomaterials, (2011) 268508.
- [25] J. W. Han, A. Lohn, N. P. Kobayashi, M. Meyyappan, Materials Express, 1 (2011) 176

Chapter 3 - Macroscale synthesis of CuO nanowires on FTO plane substrate

3.1. Introduction

One-dimensional (1D) nanostructures such as nanowires, nanobelts, nanorods, and nanotubes have become the focus of intensive research as a result of their unique properties and potential usages [1]. Nanowires and nanorods of various semiconductor materials including Si, Ge, GaN, ZnO, and so forth, have been the focus of intense studies in the past years. Different approaches, such as vapor liquid- solid [2], vapor-solid [1], and template-mediated [3] growth methods, have been used for the preparation of 1D nanostructures of semiconducting materials.

Since Xuchuan Jiang et al. reported the surface synthesis of copper oxide (CuO) nanowires on copper substrates by direct annealing in air [4], the vapor-solid thermal oxidation has been considered as simple and effective method for synthesizing nanowires. CuO nanowires have been synthesized on several substrates, such as Cu substrate [4-6], roughened Cu substrate [7], Cu foil [8-12], porous Cu substrates [13], glass substrate [14], silicon substrate [15-17], copper powder disk substrate [18], and CuO spherical grain [19].

Generally, even if the copper foil is annealed, a higher density of nanowires is not obtained over the entire region.

Then, as the constituent elements of the CuO nanowires, Cu base material is the lowermost

substrate, then the Cu layer followed by the intermediate Cu2O film, and CuO film and CuO nanowires at the top [20]. Also, for the CuO nanowire to grow, tensile stress is required from the substrate.

In this study, we focused on two types of stresses, namely tensile and compressive stresses. The nanowires became dense when a tensile stress was applied to the substrate's surface in the plane direction. On the contrary, when compressive stress was exerted, the wires would become sparse [21, 22, 23]. Since the tensile stress acted only on a certain part of the surface, the nanowires were formed only on portions corresponding to these parts.



Fig. 3.1. According to R. Meme's proposal [22], in the treatment by annealing of an industrial grade copper plane substrate, bending of the copper foil occurred due to the thermal stress, and only the portion where the tensile stress acted upon that the nanowires were densely formed. Conversely, in the portion where the compressive stress acted upon, the wires were sparsely formed.

For example, as shown in Fig. 3.1, during the annealing of an industrial grade copper plane substrate, the copper foil bent due to the thermal stress, and the nanowires were formed densely only on those portions where the tensile stress was applied [21, 22, 23]. Since the adjacent sections were compressed, the wires could not be formed nor could be made sparse. Moreover, depressions could be created by compressive stresses. Thus, the macro area infrastructure was distorted by this stress, making it more challenging to create dense and uniform nanowire on a flat plane base.

In our experimental work, CuO nanowires were synthesized on the surface of an FTO glass sheet [24]. The synthesis of CuO nanowires on an FTO glass substrate is an important technique for the fabrication of optical devices with transparent conductive layers such as photovoltaic devices. However while annealing the deposited copper on a flat base, the defined tensile stress acted only at the corner of the substrate. Therefore, the nanowires into a film were concentrated only in the order of tens of micrometers of the part of the entire micro area, or at the end portion of the sample, but not on the entire macro surface.

From the viewpoint of stress and nanowires growth, this method is not effective for producing nanowires in the macro area of a continual plane substrate.

By manufacturing CuO nanowires on the entire plane, the number of nanowires can be increased in the planar direction, therefore, the CuO nanowires can be utilized in macro-sized devices such as flat large solar cells.

3.2. Experimental procedure

For the synthesis of CuO nanowires, fluorine-doped tin oxide (FTO) glass sheets were used as a substrate. An industrial grade FTO glass sheets (thickness, 0.1 mm and purity, 99.999%) were then cut into a standard size of 2.0×2.0 cm. The substrates were consecutively cleaned with acetone, methanol, and deionized water in an ultrasonic bath for 5 min, and were then dried by flowing N₂. Then, a 50 nm-thick copper thin film was deposited onto the cleaned FTO glass substrate using vacuum e-beam evaporation.

For electroplating, this deposited FTO glass substrate was used as a cathode, while the pure copper chip (Kojundo Chemical Lab. Co. Ltd.) was used as an anode. A 500-nm thick copper film was deposited in a high concentration of CuSO₄ solution at a voltage, current, and rotational speed of 0.25 V, 0.13, and 250 rpm for 1 min, respectively. After preparing the sample, it was washed in 20 mL of acid (0.1%) solution for 10 s. It was then ultrasonically cleaned with deionized water for 5 min and was dried under an N2 flow. The cleaned Cu substrate was placed inside an electric box furnace (KOYO, KBF-828 N). The oxidation was carried out at 500°C for 1 h in static air.

The SEM images were obtained using a microscope (Hitachi S-3000 H), which was operated at an acceleration voltage of 5 kV. The X-ray diffraction (XRD) patterns were recorded using a Rigaku RINT-2100 diffract-meter (40 kV, 30 Ma, Cu-K α radiation, λ = 1.540598 Å) at a scanning speed of 0.02°/s in the 2 θ ranging from 25° to 70°.

3.3. Results and discussions



Fig. 3.2. SEM images of CuO nanowires on the 3/4 of the overall region of 2.0 cm \times 2.0 cm FTO glass sheet.

Fig. 3.2 shows the SEM images of CuO nanowires produced uniformly and across an FTO sheet (a planar and flat glass surface area) using the proposed method. This CuO nanowire sample was affixed on the entire flat surface of the FTO glass substrate of the 3/4 region of 2.0 $\times 2.0$ cm.



Fig. 3.3. The XRD results of the CuO nanowires that comprised CuO, Cu, Cu₂O phases at the annealing temperature of 500 °C

Fig. 3.3 shows the XRD results, where CuO, Cu, and Cu2O phases, which are required for forming CuO nanowires, were observed.



Fig. 3.4. An enlarged view of the sample surface. Dotted circles represent the convex portions, while the arrow's direction shows an example of a region where the tensile stress acted upon.



Fig. 3.5. An enlarged view of Fig. 3.4.



Fig. 3.6. The convex portions formed on the substrate before annealing in this experiment.



Fig. 3.7. The surface of the substrate after the reproducible industrial treatment.

As shown in Fig. 3.4, the nanowires formed on the FTO substrate had a plurality of hemispherical projections instead of a generally flat surface plane. The radius of the convex was approximately 10-20 μ m. If the plating voltage was too low, the convex shape could not be formed, and the planarization, hence the nanowires could not be created either. Fig. 3.5 displays an enlarged area of Fig. 3.4.

Fig. 3.6 shows the convex portions on the substrate before annealing. In a majority of the industrial surface preparation of the copper film, the extremely flat surface of copper film is produced by acids after the electrode position. Fig. 3.7 shows the surface of the substrate after the reproducible industrial process.

As shown in Fig. 3.8, if the surface was annealed after produced a flat top by acids, the top surface expanded in the vertical and horizontal directions, but the total stress acting on the top surface of the CuO did not change much significantly. Therefore, the nanowires were primarily discarded at the top. The tensile stress tended to concentrate at the corner across the height and the top surface, where the surface area was enlarged regularly and sufficiently.

On the contrary, as can be seen in Fig.3.8, the Cu convex portions were formed on the substrate by the electroplating adjusted the voltage. If this convex portion remained and expanded due to annealing, the surface area, where the tensile stress was acted upon sufficiently, increased. Due to the tensile stress, the nanowires were densely formed. Fig. 3.9 shows the state in which one convex portion was expanded, as proposed by Rediola Mema et al.

[22].



Fig. 3.8. (upper chart) The conventional method for CuO nanowires formation by an industrial grade process. (lower chart) The new method for CuO nanowire formation on a flat base proposed by our group.



Fig. 3.9. The CuO nanowires formation process in the case of convex expansion based on the study by Rediola Mema et al.

Similar to the CuO nanowires, other oxides materials used for nanostructures growth could

also be manufactured base on the applied stress on a planar substrate with a similar method.

3.4. Cautions

CuO nanowires are in the form of a pointed tips like as asbestos. However, the safety risk of

CuO nanowires is yet to be fully reported.

Therefore, in the case of mass production of CuO nanowires, there is a probability that the nanowires can cause the same kind of hazards as asbestos, it is necessary to be cautious.

3.5. Conclusions

The synthesis of CuO nanowires became possible on a macroscale on the plane area of the FTO grass substrate by formed Cu convex portions via electroplating adjusted the voltage and washing to keep the convex shape.

By manufacturing the CuO nanowires on the entire surface, it is possible to increase the number of wires in the planar direction, therefore, CuO nanowires could be applied to macro-sized devices, such as flat and large-surface solar cells.

References

- [1] Y. Xia, P. Yang, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. Yin, F. Kim, H. Yan, Adv. Mater.15(5) (2003) 353.
- [2] R. S. Wagner, W. C. Ellis, Appl. Phys. Lett. 4 (1964) 89.
- [3] G.-C. Yi, C. Wang, W. Il. Park, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 20(4) (2005) S22-S34.
- [4] X. Jiang, T. Herricks, Y. Xia, Nano Lett. 2(12) (2002) 1333-1338.
- [5] B. J. Hansen, G. Lu, J. Chen, Journal of Nanomaterials, (2008) 830474.
- [6] J. Liang, N. Kishi, T. Soga, T. Jimbo, Journal of Nanomaterials, (2011) 268508.
- [7] L. Yuan, G. J. Zhou, Electrochem. Soc, 159(4), (2012) C205-C209.
- [8] J. Liang, N. Kishi, T. Soga, T. Jimbo, Appl. Surf. Sci. 257(1), (2010) 62-66.
- [9] C.H. Xu, C.H. Woo, S.Q. Shi, Phys. Lett. 399(1-3) (2004) 62-66.
- [10] J. T. Chen, F. Zhang, A. Wang, G.A. Zhang, B.B. Miao, X.Y. Fan, D. Yan, P.X. Yan, J.Alloy. Compd. 454(1-2) (2008) 268-273.
- [11] M. Chen, Y. Yue, Y. J. Ju, Appl. Phys. 111 (2012) 104305.

[12] A.M.B. Goncalves, L.C. Campos, A.S. Ferlauto, R.G. Lacerda, J. Appl. Phys. 106 (2009) 034303.

- [13] Q. Zhang, D. Xu, T. F. Hung, K. Zhang, Nanotechnology, 24(6) (2013) 065602.
- [14] P. Shao, S. Deng, J. Chen, N. Xu, Nanoscale Research Letters, 6(1) (2011) 86.
- [15] K. Zhang, C. Rossi, C. Tenailleau, P. Alphonse, J. Y. Chane, Nanotechnology, 18(27)

(2007) 275607.

- [16] K. Zhang, Y. Yang, E.Y. Pun, R. Shen, Nanotechnology, 21(23) (2010) 235602.
- [17] S. L. Cheng, M. F. Chen, Nanoscale research letters, 7(1) (2012) 119.
- [18] M. Vila, C. Díaz-Guerra, J. J. Piqueras, Phys. D. Appl. Phys. 43(13) (2010) 135403.
- [19] X. Li, J. Liang, N. Kishi, T. Soga, Mater. Lett. 96 (2013) 192-194.
- [20] J. B. Liang, T. Soga, N. Kishi, T. Jimbo, Appl. Surf. Sci. 257 (2010) 62.
- [21] L. Yuan, Y. Wang, Mema R. Zhou G. Acta Mater, 59 (2011) 2491.
- [22] R. Mema, L. Yuan, Q. Du, Y. Wang, G. Zhou, Chem. Phys. Lett. 512 (2011) 87.
- [23] M. Chen, Y. Yue, Y. Ju, J. Appl. Phys. 111, (2012) 104305.
- [24] X. Li, N. Kishi, T. Soga, Mod. Phys. Lett. B. 27(31) (2013) 1350227.

Chapter 4 - Direct Synthesis of Large-Area Graphene on Insulating Substrates at Low Temperature using Microwave Plasma CVD

4.1 Introduction

Numerous publications have been reported on various methods of synthesis of graphene and possible future applications, after successful stripping of monolayer graphene by Geim et al, in 2004, important electrical and optical And chemical properties were revealed [1-10]. Among various synthetic methods, thermal chemical vapor deposition (TCVD) has proven to be the simplest and most cost effective method for industrial grade graphene synthesis [11-15].

However, the use of a catalyst during graphene growth in TCVD creates special challenges for researchers, such as removal of the catalyst and transfer of graphene from such catalyst material to the desired substrate [16-19]. Future applications of graphene, such as transparent conductive electrodes (TCE), are also delayed due to the use of catalysts and inevitable transfer processes during graphene synthesis using TCVD.

In addition, TCVD is generally a high temperature process, and the substrate temperature used for graphene growth is typically above 1000 °C. Researchers have been looking for better alternatives to synthesize graphene directly on the desired substrate at low temperatures, and have ended the search for alternatives to indium tin oxide (ITO) for 20 years [20]. To overcome these problems, many researchers have attempted to grow graphene directly on an insulating substrate using TCVD.

In 2010, Ismach and colleagues reported the direct growth of graphene on various insulating substrates. However, using 1000 ° C as the working temperature used to evaporate copper is not feasible for a variety of boards that cannot withstand such high temperatures [21]. In a recent report, Song et al, also attempted to grow transition free graphene on an insulating substrate by using a copper vapor similar to that reported above [22]. To produce roll-to-roll graphene, Sony applies electrical current to the copper catalyst sheet to selectively heat the copper sheet and synthesize graphene up to 100m.

However, the authors admit that if the temperature of the copper sheet rises to about 1000 ° C during the Joule heating process, graphene may be defective at higher temperatures [23]. It would always better if the synthesis temperature was lowered and the transfer process was avoided in order to obtain graphene of almost the same quality as previously reported graphene.

Apart from TCVD, other methods such as plasma CVD have also been used by researchers to synthesize graphene directly on an insulating substrate without the use of a catalyst [24-26]. The advantage of using plasma CVD is that unlike TCVD, high temperature heating of the substrate is not required [27]. Sun et al, synthesized plasma graphene directly on a variety of insulating substrates at temperatures ranging from 400 °C to 600 °C using plasma enhanced CVD. However, it led to the formation of carbon nanowalls, and vertical growth was more dominant than lateral graphene growth [28]. Munoz et al. recently reported a 300 nm graphene

crystal formed using plasma CVD with a sheet resistance of 1.8 k Ω/\Box [29].

In another report, Yamada et al, used plasma CVD, roll-to-roll synthesis of graphene, the transmittance of PET film is about 89% and the sheet resistance is on the order of 106 k Ω/\Box [30]. Plasma CVD, which allows roll-to-roll direct graphene growth at low temperatures, encouraged many researchers to choose graphene over TCVD. So far, the direct growth of graphene has been limited to either a small area of graphene or a high sheet resistance [31,32]. In this chapter, a large area graphene is directly grown on an insulating substrate such as quartz or glass using magnetron-generated microwave plasma CVD (PCVD) at a substrate temperature of 300 °C, and ozone (O₃) treatment of synthetic graphene is performed. The effect was studied to improve the sheet resistance and transmittance of graphene.

4.2 Experiment

Experiments with quartz and micro slide glass, (2 x 2 x 0.1 cm, Matsunami Glass Industrial Co. Ltd.) using plasma CVD (Shinko Seiki, Japan) with a quartz plate followed by another quartz plate with apertures. It has been reported that when a quartz plate with holes is used, the density does not jump and high density plasma is generated compared to a flat plate. High-density plasma can be generated on a metric scale, and large-area deposition can be easily achieved using such plasma CVD.



Fig. 4.1. Schematic of microwave plasma CVD.

A schematic diagram of the system used for graphene film growth is shown in Fig. 4.1. Graphene is deposited using a mixed gas of methane (CH₄), hydrogen (H₂), carbon dioxide (CO₂) and argon (Ar), with flow rates of 4, 15, 0.3, 15 sccm (minutes per standard cubic centimeter), Respectively, were selected in all experiments after optimization. A microwave power of 1000W was used so that fluctuation was negligible. Graphene was deposited on a microslide glass using a gas composition pressure of 10 Pa for 4 minutes and sonicated in acetone for 15 minutes.

After deposition, the insulating substrate was treated with ozone to further improve the sheet resistance and transmittance of carbon films deposited on glass and quartz. Ozone was generated using a high voltage power supply (9kV) between stainless steel meshes 8mm apart.

The substrate was characterized by Raman spectroscopy with a 532 nm laser excitation energy on a Renishaw InVia laser Raman microscope and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) using a PHI 5000 VersaProbe. Optical imaging with Keyence VHX-6000 optical microscope, scanning electron microscope (SEM), JSM-6510 and Innova Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) Bruker was used to analyze the surface morphology of the deposited carbon film. Using the JASCOV570 spectrophotometer, UV-Vis-NIR was used to characterize the light transmittance of the carbon deposition surface.

The sheet resistance of the carbon film was measured by the 4-probe method (RT-70V-Napson Corporation, Japan). Hall effect measurements were made using the Lake Shore 8400 Series (Toyo Corporation, Japan) and the van der Pauw technique.

4.3 Results and discussion

The experiment was performed at 800 W initial microwave power with different CO_2 concentrations with CH_4 , H_2 and Ar. It has been found that the CO_2 concentration, which was higher than the 0.3 standard cubic centimeter (sccm) sheet resistance of the deposited carbon film, increases dramatically. In terms of sheet resistance and transmission, acceptable results were obtained with 0.3 sccm of CO_2 and CH_4 , H_2 and Ar.

Fig. 4.2 shows that the sheet resistance and transmittance of the as-deposited substrate change with CO_2 concentration. After finding the optimal concentration of CO_2 and





Fig. 4.2. Dependence of sheet resistance and transmittance of glass on CO₂

concentration.



Fig. 4.3. Raman spectra of (A) glass and (B) quartz surfaces after carbon film deposition

using PCVD during graphene growth.

experiment with other microwave powers, it was found that acceptable deposits were obtained at 1000W in 700-1200W microwave power. After all optimization, a substrate with a sheet resistance of 1.3 k Ω/\Box and a transmission of 80% was obtained. The synthesized film on glass and quartz was first characterized by Raman spectroscopy.

Fig. 4.3(A) shows a typical Raman spectrum of graphene on the glass surface. The 1350 cm⁻¹, 1580 cm⁻¹ and 2682 cm⁻¹ peaks corresponding to the D, G and 2D peaks, respectively, confirm the formation of several layers of graphene on the glass surface. Similarly, the Raman spectrum of quartz shown in Fig. 4.3(B) confirms the formation of graphene. The D peak in the Raman spectrum is due to defects in the synthetic graphene.

It has been observed from previous reports that plasma CVD forms vertically grown carbon walls much more easily than lateral graphene growth [33],[34]. Such vertical carbon walls can cause defect peaks in the Raman spectrum. Therefore, a detailed surface morphology inspection was performed using optical imaging, AFM and SEM analysis to evaluate the as-synthesized graphene morphology.

Fig. 4.4(A) shows an optical image of the quartz surface after graphene growth. In optical image observation, there is no clear evidence of carbon wall formation. Also SEM image of the Fig. 4.4(B), it clearly shows that the graphene has grown laterally. AFM analysis also confirmed that no carbon wall formation occurred, and the line profile on the quartz surface showed that graphene grew laterally on the quartz substrate with a surface roughness of a few nanometers.

Since it is clear from surface morphology examination that lateral graphene has formed, the

cause of the d-peak in the Raman spectrum may have been caused by oxygen impurities



Fig. 4.4. (A) Optical image, (B) SEM image, (C) AFM image, (D) three-dimensional AFM

image, and (E) line profile of a graphene/quartz surface.

resulting from the use of CO_2 or surface contamination during the synthesis process. However, using 0.3 sccm CO_2 during the synthesis process significantly improved sheet resistance and transmission, and helped control the vertical growth of carbon. This information is useful for lateral graphene growth using plasma CVD with improved sheet resistance and transmission.

To estimate the thickness of graphene, we scratched the continuous graphene/SiO₂/Si surface

and performed AFM measurements. Graphene was deposited directly on SiO₂/Si, especially for AFM analysis to obtain a clear contrast between the surface and graphene. The contrast of the SiO₂/Si surface with the graphene layer makes it easier to spot scratches during optical observations during AFM measurements. Fig. 4.5(A) shows an AFM image of the graphene/SiO₂/Si surface, with a scratch on the left side of the rectangular image and a graphene (yellowish part) on the right side. The figure also confirms lateral graphene growth on the SiO₂/Si surface that complements the previous explanation. The line profile in Fig. 4.5(B) shows that several layers of 1.2 nm thick graphene are formed on the SiO₂/Si surface.



Fig. 4.5. (A) AFM image and (B) Line profile of graphene/SiO₂ surface.

When sheet resistance was measured using four probe technologies, graphene was formed in the range of 2.1 k Ω/\Box to 2.8 k Ω/\Box as shown in Fig. 4.6(A), and the transmittance of Fig.

4.6(B) was observed. Both blue lines show between 74% and 80%. Under the above growth



Fig. 4.6. Effect of Ozone treatment on (A) sheet resistance and (B) transmittance of PCVD

-synthesized graphene.

conditions, nanometer-thick large area graphene cannot be synthesized on an insulating substrate at a temperature of 300 °C. Directly synthesized graphene on an insulating substrate with a sheet resistance of 2-3 k Ω/\Box and a transmittance of 70-80% removes surface contamination or surface impurities, assuming that ozone treatment cleans amorphous carbon or other surface contamination. In order to be treated with ozone for various time periods, Li et al reported that 10 minutes of UV ozone treatment of graphene promotes metal-graphene contact by removing surface contamination. Also, such short exposure of UV ozone did not cause damage to the synthesized graphene [35]. Fig. 4.6 shows the change in sheet resistance of graphene after ozone treatment. As can be seen, graphene exposed to ozone for 15-20 minutes has superior quality in terms of sheet resistance and transmittance compared to as-synthesized graphene. The ozone exposure device improved the graphene sheet resistance by 30 to 35% and at the same time improved the transmittance by 1%.

In order to investigate the effect of ozone treatment on graphene, XPS analysis was performed on as-grown ozone-treated graphene samples. Fig. 4.7(A) shows an XPS survey of the graphene / quartz surface before and after ozone treatment showing the presence of silicon (Si), carbon (C) and oxygen (O). The display of the Fig. 4.7(B) C1s spectrum confirms the formation of the sp^2 carbon with a peak of 284.25 eV assigned to the C-C bond [36]. The shift of the C1s peak is clearly seen in Fig. 4.7(B) to 284.25 eV from 284.4 eV after ozone treatment. This 0.15 eV shift to lower binding energy may be due to the physisorption of ozone



Fig. 4.7. (A) XPS survey spectrum, (B), (C), (D) C1s, O1s and N1s spectra respectively for

as-grown and Ozone treated graphene.

molecules on graphene [37]. The physisorption binding energy of ozone to the graphene surface is less than 0.3 eV [38]. As reported by Jandhyala et al, this physisorbed ozone causes an upshift of the Dirac point and leads to p-type doping of graphene. An increase in p-type doping can be expected to improve electrical conductivity [39]. When graphene is treated with ozone for more than 20 minutes, epoxide groups are formed on the bottom of the graphene due to chemisorption of ozone. This increases the surface defects of graphene and increases the sheet resistance [40]. Aside from TCVD-grown graphene, there are reports on sheet resistance and mobility enhancement using ozone treatment for exfoliated graphene [41].

Table 4.1 Effect of O treatment on Hall mobility and carrier concentration of graphene.

		As grown graphene	O ₃ treated graphene
μН	Hall mobility[cm²/V·s]	9.64	97.5
	Sheet carrier concentration		
nsheet	[1/cm ²]	2.89E+14	5.09E+13

 Table 4.2 Surface composition of graphene grown on quartz surface.

	C1s [%]	N1s [%]	O1s [%]	Si2p [%]
As grown graphene	97.2	0.0	1.5	1.3
O₃ treated graphene	94.7	0.0	3.5	1.8

Table 4.1 shows the effect of ozone treatment on graphene sheet carrier mobility and sheet

carrier concentration. Hall mobility increases by up to 350% with a slight decrease in sheet carrier concentration after ozone treatment. The oxygen detected in the O1s spectrum shown in Fig. 4.7(C) may have come from either the use of CO_2 during the synthesis process, the quartz surface under the graphene film, or C-O bond formation. The O1s spectrum also shows hump formation to higher binding energies after ozone treatment. This hump may be due to the Si-O bond. This indicates that the quartz surface is exposed to more X-rays after ozone treatment. O1s spectral hump formation confirms that ozone treatment removes surface contamination and forms physisorbed ozone on the graphene surface. This helps improve the mobility and sheet resistance of graphene sheet carriers.

Fig. 4.7(D) confirms that there is no as-grown graphene or nitrogen after ozone treatment. In addition, Table 4.2 shows that ozone treatment helped to remove surface contamination of graphene, as the carbon percentage decreased and the transmission increased by 1%. On the other hand, the increase in O and Si atom concentrations may cause X-rays to easily detect SiO_2 under the graphene to remove of unwanted impurities.

4.4 Conclusion

Direct growth of graphene on a 2x2 cm insulating substrate was achieved at a temperature of 300 °C using magnetron-generated plasma CVD. Graphene growth is controlled using a small amount of CO₂. Furthermore, after treatment with ozone, graphene with a sheet resistance of

1.3 k Ω / \Box and a transmittance of 80% was obtained. It was observed that ozone treatment cleans the surface and increases graphene permeability and sheet carrier mobility.

These results help to grow graphene directly at low temperature on an insulating substrate to expand the applicability of graphene in optoelectronics.
References

- [1] K. S. Novoselov, A. K. Geim, S. V. Morozov, D. Jiang, Y. Zhang, S. V. Dubonos, I. V. Grigorieva, A. A. Firsov, Science. 306 (2004) 666.
- [2] S. Chen, Q. Wu, C. Mishra, J. Kang, H. Zhang, K. Cho, W. Cai, A. A. Balandin, R. S. Ruoff,

Nat Mater. 11 (2012) 203.

- [3] X. Du, I. Skachko, E. Y. Andrei, A. Barker, Nat. Nanotechnol. 3 (2008) 491.
- [4] N. Li, H. Song, H. Cui, C. Wang, Sn, Nano Energy. 3 (2014) 102.
- [5] L. Dai, D. W. Chang, J. B. Baek, W. Lu, Small. 8 (2012) 1130.
- [6] Y. Z. Chen, H. Medina, H. W. Tsai, Y. C. Wang, Y. T. Yen, A. Manikandan, Y. L. Chem. Mater. 27
- [7] Y. Zhu, S. Murali, W. Cai, X. Li, J. W. Suk, J. R. Potts, R. S. Ruoff, Adv. Mater. 22 (2010)3906.
- [8] A. Geim, K. Novoselov, R. Swedish Acad. Sci. 181 (2011) 1283.
- [9] K. S. Novoselov, V. I. Fal'ko, L. Colombo, P. R. Gellert, M.G. Schwab, K. Kim, Nature.490 (2012) 192.
- [10] F. Schwierz, Nat. Nanotechnol. 5 (2010) 487.
- [11] S. Naghdi, K. Y. Rhee, S. J. Park, A catalytic, Carbon. 127 (2018) 1.
- [12] E. S. Polsen, D. Q. McNerny, B. Viswanath, S. W. Pattinson, A. John Hart, Sci. Rep. 5(2015) 1.

- [13] S. Bae, H. Kim, Y. Lee, X. Xu, J. S. Park, Y. Zheng, J. Balakrishnan, T. Lei, H. R. Kim,
- Y. II Song, Y. J. Kim, K. S. Kim, B. Ozyilmaz, J. H. Ahn, B. H. Hong, S. Iijima, Nat. Nanotechnol. 5 (2010) 574.
- [14] H. An, W. J. Lee, J. Jung, Curr. Appl. Phys. 11 (2011) S81.
- [15] H. Xin, W. Li, Appl. Phys. Rev. 5 (2018) 31105.
- [16] J. Kim, H. Park, J. B. Hannon, S. W. Bedell, K. Fogel, D. K. Sadana, C. Dimitrakopoulos,Science. 342 (2013) 833.
- [17] A. Matkovic, U. Ralevic, M. Chhikara, M.M. Jakovljevic, D. Jovanovic, G. Bratina, R.Gajic, J. Appl. Phys. 114 (2013) 093505.
- [18] B. J. Park, J. S. Choi, J. H. Eom, H. Ha, H. Y. Kim, S. Lee, H. Shin, S. G. Yoon, ACS Nano. 12 (2018) 2008.
- [19] H. J. Song, M. Son, C. Park, H. Lim, M. P. Levendorf, A. W. Tsen, J. Park, H. C. Choi, Nanoscale. 4 (2012) 3050.
- [20] J. M. Phillips, J. Kwo, G. A. Thomas, S. A. Carter, R. J. Cava, S. Y. Hou, J. J. Krajewski,
- J. H. Marshall, W. F. Peck, D. H. Rapkine, R. B. Van Dover, Appl. Phys. Lett. 65 (1994) 115.
- [21] A. Ismach, C. Druzgalski, S. Penwell, A. Schwartzberg, M. Zheng, A. Javey, J. Bokor, Y. Zhang, Nano Lett. 10 (2010) 1542.
- [22] I. Song, Y. Park, H. Cho, H. C. Choi, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 57 (2018) 15374.
- [23] T. Kobayashi, M. Bando, N. Kimura, K. Shimizu, K. Kadono, N. Umezu, K. Miyahara, S.

Hayazaki, S. Nagai, Y. Mizuguchi, Y. Murakami, D. Hobara, Appl. Phys. Lett. 102 (2013) 1.

[24] C. S. Lee, K. W. Shin, H. J. Song, H. Park, Y. Cho, D. H. Im, H. Lee, J. H. Lee, J. Y. Won,

- J. G. Chung, C. Kim, K. E. Byun, E. K. Lee, Y. Kim, W. Ko, H. J. Lim, S. Park, H. J. Shin, Adv. Electron. Mater. 4 (2018) 1.
- [25] D. A. Boyd, W.H. Lin, C. C. Hsu, M. L. Teague, C. C. Chen, Y. Y. Lo, W. Y. Chan, W. B.
- Su, T. C. Cheng, C. S. Chang, C. I. Wu, N. C. Yeh, Nat. Commun. 6 (2015) 1.
- [26] T. Yamada, M. Ishihara, M. Hasegawa, 532 (2013) 89.
- [27] G. Kalita, K. Wakita, M. Umeno, RSC Adv. 2 (2012) 2815.
- [28] J. Sun, Y. Chen, X. Cai, B. Ma, Z. Chen, M. K. Priydarshi, K. Chen, T. Gao, X. Song, Q.
- Ji, X. Guo, D. Zou, Y. Zhang, Z. Liu, Nano Res. 8 (2015) 3496.
- [29] R. Munoz, L. Martinez, E. Lopez-Elvira, C. Munuera, Y. Huttel, M. Garcia-Hernandez, Nanoscale. 10 (2018) 12779.
- [30] T. Yamada, M. Ishihara, J. Kim, M. Hasegawa, S. Iijima, Carbon. 50 (2012) 2615.
- [31] R. Vishwakarma, M. S. Rosmi, K. Takahashi, Y. Wakamatsu, Y. Yaakob, M. I. Araby, G. Kalita, M. Kitazawa, M. Tanemura, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 43756.
- [32] R. Hirano, K. Matsubara, G. Kalita, Y. Hayashi, M. Tanemura, Nanoscale. 4 (2012) 7791.
- [33] J. Zhao, M. Shaygan, J. Eckert, M. Meyyappan, M. H. Rummeli, Nano Lett. 14 (2014)3064.
- [34] Y. Wu, P. Qiao, T. Chong, Z. Shen, Adv. Mater. 14 (2002) 64.

- [35] W. Li, Y. Liang, D. Yu, L. Peng, K. P. Pernstich, T. Shen, A. R. Hight Walker, G. Cheng, C.
- A. Hacker, C. A. Richter, Q. Li, D. J. Gundlach, X. Liang, Appl. Phys. Lett. 102 (2013) 183110.
- [36] A. Pirkle, J. Chan, A. Venugopal, D. Hinojos, C. W. Magnuson, S. McDonnell, L.Colombo, E. M. Vogel, R. S. Ruoff, R. M. Wallace, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99 (2011) 4.
- [37] V. S. Prudkovskiy, K. P. Katin, M. M. Maslov, P. Puech, R. Yakimova, G. Deligeorgis,Carbon N. Y. 109 (2016) 221.
- [38] G. Lee, B. Lee, J. Kim, K. Cho, J. Phys. Chem. C. 113 (2009) 14225.
- [39] S. Jandhyala, G. Mordi, B. Lee, G. Lee, C. Floresca, P. Cha, J. Ahn, R. M. Wallace, Y. J.
- Chabal, M. J. Kim, L. Colombo, K. Cho, J. Kim, ACS Nano 6 (2012) 2722.
- [40] N. Leconte, J. Moser, P. Ordejo, H. Tao, A. Bachtold, S. Roche, ACS Nano. 4 (2010)4033.
- [41] H. Yang, S. Qin, G. Peng, X. Zheng X. Zhang, Nano. 11 (2016) 1650141.

Chapter 5 - Conclusion

5.1 Conclusion of this work

One dimensional (1D) and two dimensional (2D) materials are expected as future electronic devices. Electronic devices containing various rare metals produced so far are very expensive for commercial use. With respect to the current rare materials, copper oxide nanowires and graphene are examples of 1D and 2D currently being studied that are very stable, inexpensive and non-toxic materials that can be attained from precursors well nature available. It has a potential for solar cell materials, and bring significant advances in materials research for applications in electronics, photonics, and energy devices. These applications require analysis of their structure, large areas, and large amounts of active device materials to enable production and utilization on a realistic scale.

Under conditions where general copper oxide nanowires are generated, it is possible to synthesize copper oxide nanowires at an atmospheric pressure of $500 \circ C$ for 60 minutes and an air flow rate of about 0.5 L in the enclosed space. When the air flow rate is reduced to 0.01 L / min in a closed space in the synthesis of copper oxide nanowires, copper particles begin to collect on the wire. Furthermore, the particles that have moved from the substrate are formed from the wire tip to show why the synthesis time of the CuO nanowire mainly affects the wire length. This agrees experimentally with the argument that copper ions are diffused on the surface of the copper oxide nanowire growth process and grow toward the tip of the wire. We

experimentally demonstrated the surface diffusion of copper ions on the nanowires in such a 1D CuO nanowire with a mechanism formed by stress.

From the viewpoint of tensile and compressive stress and growth of nanowires, CuO nanowires mass production on a flat substrate is difficult. If the copper substrate is flattened as in the case of the industrial manufacturing method of copper, the dispersal of stress will cause damage to the copper substrate rather than the nanowires being manufactured. In the proposed study, however, this was made possible by changing the structure of the substrate. The nanowire substrate on the FTO is not a flat surface but a plurality of hemispherical protrusions the radius of the convex part is about 10 to 20 μ m and forms a CuO plane. From the growth process of 1D CuO nanowires using stress, it has become possible to increase the area of a planar substrate with a large number of nanowire elements by a simple synthesis method.

Direct graphene growth on an insulating substrate using microwave plasma CVD is controlled using a small amount of CO₂. After further treatment with ozone, graphene with a sheet resistance of 1.3 k Ω/\Box and a transmittance of 80% was obtained. It can be seen that ozone treatment cleans the surface and increases graphene permeability and sheet carrier mobility. The growth of graphene achieved at a temperature of 300 °C increases the range of direct growth to an insulating substrate or semiconductor that can be grown directly at lower temperatures. We also focused on graphene, which is expected to be a transparent conductive film as a two-dimensional material, and were able to increase the area and quality by direct synthesis at low temperatures, which will be necessary in the future.

5.2 Suggestions for future study

CuO nanowires still experimental to the laboratory. Several early experiments have shown how to use them to build next-generation electronic devices. The first important step in creating active electronic devices is to dope to nanowires chemically. This has already been conducted for individual nanowires to change p-type or n-type semiconductors.

The next way is to find to make a p-n junction of the simply electronic devices. The main purpose of this paper is to produce solar cells from copper oxide nanowires that can be run for very low cost, non-toxicity, and stability. The heterojunction of p-type copper oxide nanowire and n-type zinc oxide devices will be a future purpose of this study.

As for plasma CVD graphene, this time it was in the range of 2x2cm, but by improving the plasma CVD stage and discharge quartz plate, it is possible to grow graphene directly over a wider range. These results help to grow graphene directly at low temperature on an insulating substrate to expand the applicability of graphene in optoelectronics. The challenge is to further improve the quality of graphene films by optimization of plasma conditions.

Furthermore this film formation technology can be handled not only as a single carbon solar power value but also as a transparent conductive film that can replace rare metals. As a transparent conductive film, this technology can be applied to various semiconductors such as direct growth on n-type zinc oxide and p-type copper oxide nanowire layers created as solar cells.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and deep gratitude to Professor Tetsuo Soga, Department of Electrical and Mechanical Engineering, Nagoya Institute of Technology, for continuing and painstaking guidance, essential help, and valuable inspiration to carry out this study.

I would like to give a special thanks to Professor Masayoshi Umeno of C's Techno incorporated and the colleagues for in carrying out several experiments

Thank you also to Associate Professor Naoki Kishi Engineering, Department of Electrical and Mechanical, Nagoya Institute of Technology, and Associate Professor Kalita Golap, Department of Physical Engineering Nagoya Institute of Technology, for their thorough evaluation and critical comments to improve the quality of this work.

I thank my family and friends for their emotional support and encouragement.

I would like to thank C's Techno incorporated and Nagoya Institute of Technology for providing me with the opportunity to carry out this research and the necessary facilities.

List of publication

[1] Direct existence to suggest activity of copper ions surface diffusion on nanowire in growth process

Yota Mabuchi, Norhana Mohamed Rashid, Jian Bo Liang, Naoki Kishi, Tetsuo Soga

Modern Physics Letters B 33 (2019) 1950249

[2] Macroscale Synthesis of CuO Nanowires on FTO Plane Substrate

Yota Mabuchi, Rashid Norhana Mohamed, Xuyang Li, JianBo Liang, Naoki Kishi,

Tetsuo Soga: Modern Physics Letters B 33, (2019) 1950138

[3] Direct Synthesis of Large-Area Graphene on Insulating Substrates at Low Temperature using Microwave Plasma CVD

Riteshkumar Vishwakarma, Rucheng Zhu, Amr Attia Abuelwafa, Yota Mabuchi,

Sudip Adhikari, Susumu Ichimura, Tetsuo Soga, Masayoshi Umeno

ACS Omega 4 (2019) 11263-11270

Conference

Formation of graphene thin films by microwave surface plasma pulsing

Yota Mabuchi, Tetsuo Soga, Masayoshi Umeno 2018 79th JSAP Autumn Meeting, Plasma deposition, detail 2018-09-21-[21p-PB1-8]